IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ESTATE OF MARY CURTIS, DECEASED; LAURA LATRENTA, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF MARY CURTIS; AND LAURA LATRENTA, INDIVIDUALLY,

Electronically Filed Jan 17 2020 03:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

vs.

Supreme Court Case No. 79396

Appeal from District Court Case No. A-19-790152-C

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC, D/B/A LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS, F/K/A LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; AND CARL WAGNER, ADMINISTRATOR,

Respondents.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Michael D Davidson, Esq. KOLESAR & LEATHAM

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On July 15, 2019, the district court entered an order granting the Motion to Dismiss filed by Appellees South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC, South Las Vegas Investors Limited Partnership, Life Care Centers of America, Inc., and Carl Wagner (collectively, "LCC") to which Appellants, the Estate of Mary Curtis, Laura Latrenta, as Personal Representative of the Estate, and Laura Latrenta, individually ("Laura Latrenta" or "Ms. Latrenta") filed a Notice of Appeal on August 8, 2019. (Joint Appendix¹ 0210-0212). This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) as this is an appeal from a final order entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment was rendered.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(12) as the issue on appeal raises questions of statewide public importance and upon which there is an inconsistency between the decision of the trial court and the published decisions of the Nevada Supreme Court *Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby*, 124 Nev. 1048 (2008) and *Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 278 (2007).

In *Five Star*, this Court held that for claim preclusion to apply, there must be a valid final judgment. *Five Star*, 124 Nev. at 1054. The Court clarified that a valid

¹ Joint Appendix, hereinafter "(APP____)"

final judgment does *not* include a case dismissed "for some reason (jurisdiction, venue, failure to join a party) that is not meant to have preclusive effect." *Id.* at 1054 n.27. During the hearing in the district court below, Ms. Latrenta informed the district court that a previous trial court had dismissed a previous complaint against LCC without prejudice and for lack of jurisdiction, *i.e.*, for reasons not meant to have preclusive effect, and Ms. Latrenta referred the district court to *Five Star*. (APP0186, APP0188, APP0194 – APP0197). However, the court below ignored *Five Star* and dismissed the Complaint. (APP0200 – APP0203). This Court is now asked to decide whether a dismissal without prejudice of a previous complaint for lack of jurisdiction constitutes a basis for claim preclusion.

Additionally, during the hearing in the district court, Ms. Latrenta also referred that court to *Marcuse*. In *Marcuse*, this Court reiterated that the application of judicial estoppel is appropriate when five criteria are met:

(1) the same party has taken two positions; (2) the positions were taken in judicial or quasi-judicial administrative proceedings; (3) the party was successful in asserting the first position (i.e., the tribunal adopted the position or accepted it as true); (4) the two positions are totally inconsistent; and (5) the first position was not taken as a result of ignorance, fraud, or mistake.

Marcuse, 123 Nev. at 286 (citation omitted). Ms. Latrenta informed the trial court that all five elements of Marcuse were applicable to this case. (APP0196 – APP0197). However, the trial court ignored *Marcuse* and dismissed the Complaint

without applying judicial estoppel. (APP0200 – APP0203). This Court is now asked to decide whether a party that took, without ignorance, fraud, or mistake, a successful position in a previous judicial proceeding should be judicially estopped from taking a totally inconsistent position in a subsequent judicial proceeding regarding the same matter.

These issues are best resolved by the Nevada Supreme Court as they represent matters of statewide importance and to avoid inconsistent application and interpretation by lower courts.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. May a district court rely upon claim preclusion to dismiss a complaint despite the fact that the previous complaint was dismissed without prejudice?

2. May a district court rely upon claim preclusion to dismiss a complaint despite the fact that the previous complaint was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction?

3. Are litigants, the Respondents here, permitted to take two totally inconsistent positions, not just a mere change in position or argument, in separate judicial proceedings to obtain an unfair advantage?

viii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal pertains to allegations of abuse and/or neglect of an older person (three-year statute of limitations) and bad faith tort (three-year statute of limitations) filed as a Complaint on February 27, 2019 in the District Court of Clark County, Nevada ("Current Trial Court") by Ms. Latrenta and against LCC which are entities that are not considered providers of health care under NRS 41A.017. (APP0004 – APP0027).

On May 3, 2019, LCC filed their Motion to Dismiss arguing that the Current Trial Court should apply claim preclusion to dismiss Ms. Latrenta's Complaint ("Current Complaint") and case because another district court² ("Previous Trial Court") dismissed a different complaint filed by Ms. Latrenta against LCC ("Previous Complaint"). (APP0036 – APP0141).

On May 13, 2019, Ms. Latrenta filed her Opposition explaining that claim preclusion was inapplicable because the Previous Trial Court dismissed the Previous Complaint without prejudice and for lack of jurisdiction, *i.e.*, for reasons not meant to have preclusive effect. (APP0142 – APP0172). Ms. Latrenta further explained that, in any event, judicial estoppel should be applicable and preclude dismissal because LCC was attempting to take a totally inconsistent position in the Current

² District Ct. Case No. A-17-750520-C, which is now on appeal before the Nevada Supreme Court as Case No. 77810.

Trial Court than they had in the Previous Trial Court in an attempt to obtain an unfair advantage. (APP0150 – APP152). LCC filed its Reply on May 30, 2019. (APP0173 – APP0179).

The Current Trial Court held a hearing on June 4, 2019, (APP0180 – APP0199), and granted LCC's Motion to Dismiss on July 15, 2019, (APP0200 – APP0203). LCC filed the Notice of Entry on July 15, 2019, (APP0204 – APP0209), to which Ms. Latrenta timely filed a Notice of Appeal on August 8, 2019. (APP0210 – APP0212). On August 20, 2019, this Court exempted the parties from the settlement program and maintained this case on the appellate docket.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 2, 2016, Mary Curtis was admitted to LCC's Nevada nursing home, Life Care Center of Paradise Valley ("Facility"). (APP0014). During her residency, Ms. Curtis suffered falls with injuries at the Facility. (APP0015). Then, on March 7, 2016, LCC administered to Mary Curtis morphine not prescribed for her. (APP0015). This fact is uncontested and was so found as a fact by the Previous Trial Court. (APP0063). However, LCC waited until the day after Mary Curtis consumed the morphine to call 911 and have her transported to the hospital. (APP0015). At the hospital, Mary Curtis was diagnosed with anoxic brain encephalopathy and died shortly thereafter on March 11, 2016. (APP0015). Mary Curtis's death certificate identifies her immediate cause of death as morphine intoxication. (APP0015).

On February 2, 2017, Ms. Latrenta filed in the Previous Trial Court the Previous Complaint against LCC, the nursing home and its operators, managers, and administrators, alleging abuse/neglect of Ms. Latrenta's mother Mary Curtis under Nevada's older person abuse and neglect statute, wrongful death, and breach of contract. (APP0052 – APP0060). Specifically, Ms. Latrenta's Complaint alleged (1) abuse/neglect of an older person falling under NRS 41.1395, (2) wrongful death, on behalf of the Estate of Mary Curtis under NRS 41.0185, (3) wrongful death on behalf of Laura Latrenta herself under NRS 41.0185, and (4) a bad faith tort. (APP0052 – APP0060). These claims were largely premised on LCC's negligent management and operation of the nursing home that led to, *inter alia*, preventable falls and injuries, the erroneous administration of morphine (prescribed for another resident), and the failure to treat and monitor Mary Curtis as the morphine took her life. (APP0052 – APP0060).

The Previous Trial Court nonetheless dismissed Ms. Latrenta's Previous Complaint almost two years after the filing of the Previous Complaint because Ms. Latrenta did not file an affidavit-of-merit, pursuant to NRS 41A.071, concurrently with the Previous Complaint ("Previous Order") even though Ms. Latrenta did not sue a provider of health care as defined by NRS 41A.017. (APP0062 – APP0070). Ms. Latrenta filed a Notice of Appeal of the Previous Order on December 27, 2018.

(APP0085).

On February 27, 2019, Ms. Latrenta filed her Current Complaint against LCC, the nursing home and its operators, managers, and administrators, none of which are providers of health care under NRS 41A.017, alleging abuse/neglect of Ms. Latrenta's mother Mary Curtis under Nevada's older person abuse and neglect statute (three-year statute of limitations) and bad faith tort (three-year statute of limitations). (APP0004 – APP0027). Ms. Latrenta alleged that, as a result of LCC's conduct, Ms. Curtis suffered injuries including falls with injury, intoxication, unnecessary pain and suffering, and an untimely death. (APP0013). Ms. Latrenta further alleged that "Ms. Curtis's injuries were entirely preventable had Defendants simply provided the Facility with sufficient practices, sufficient supplies, and sufficient staff, in number and training, to provide Ms. Curtis with the amount of supervision and care that the laws and regulations required." (APP0010). Ms. Latrenta alleged that LCC's conduct was motivated by, *inter alia*, "maximizing profits by operating Facility in such a manner that Facility was underfunded and understaffed." (APP0009).

Ms. Latrenta then outlined LCC's duties and responsibilities as a result of their business of providing long-term care as a skilled nursing facility in Nevada, including their obligation to maintain and manage the Facility with adequate staff and sufficient resources to ensure timely care and services and their obligation to provide adequate supervision, assistance, and intervention to prevent injury or deterioration of the residents' health. (APP0011 – APP0012). Ms. Latrenta then alleged multiple theories of the liability of LCC—not just vicarious liability for one nurse. (APP0008 – APP0009). For example, as to the First Cause of Action for Abuse/Neglect of an Older Person (three-year statute of limitations), Ms. Latrenta alleged that LCC could "be held liable on various theories of liability including direct liability based on their conduct in creating, promotion and maintaining a toxic and unsafe environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents, including Ms. Curtis." (APP0015). Ms. Latrenta environment for the residents) for under a theory of enterprise, agency relationship, employment relationship, or under a theory of enterprise.

On May 3, 2019, LCC filed their Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) for failure to state a claim. (APP0036 – APP0141). LCC argued that the Current Trial Court should apply claim preclusion to dismiss the Current Complaint because the Previous Trial Court purportedly disposed of the Previous Complaint by summary judgment, which LCC claimed was a final judgment for purposes of claim preclusion. (APP0046 – APP0048).

On May 13, 2019, Ms. Latrenta filed her Opposition, explaining that claim preclusion was inapplicable because the Previous Trial Court dismissed the Previous Complaint without prejudice and for lack of jurisdiction. (APP0142 – APP0172).

Ms. Latrenta clarified that although the Previous Trial Court had styled its order as an order granting summary judgment, in reality and true effect, the order was an order dismissing Ms. Latrenta's Previous Complaint as the Previous Trial Court had no discretion to grant summary judgment. (APP0146). Therefore, Ms. Latrenta concluded, the order was a dismissal without prejudice and not subject to preclusive effect for purposes of claim preclusion under *Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby*, 124 Nev. 1048 (2008). (APP0145 – APP0146). In any event, Ms. Latrenta explained if the Current Trial Court insisted on maintaining the title of the order by the Previous Trial Court, the same outcome would result as summary judgment may be granted without prejudice. (APP0146 – APP0147).

Ms. Latrenta further explained that claim preclusion was inapplicable because, as LCC had vigorously maintained in the Previous Trial Court, the dismissal of a complaint for failure to attach a required expert affidavit is a dismissal on jurisdictional grounds. (APP0147 – APP0149). Based upon *Five Star*'s instruction that a valid final judgment for claim preclusion does not include a jurisdiction-based dismissal, Ms. Latrenta concluded that claim preclusion was inapplicable to the Current Complaint. (APP0149).

Finally, Ms. Latrenta explained that, in any event, judicial estoppel should be applicable and preclude dismissal because LCC was attempting to take a totally inconsistent position in the Current Trial Court than they did in the Previous Trial Court, thereby obtaining an unfair advantage. (APP0150 – APP0151). Specifically, Ms. Latrenta highlighted the fact that in the Previous Trial Court, LCC claimed Ms. Latrenta's Previous Complaint failed for lack of jurisdiction (such that dismissal without prejudice had to result) and that the affidavit requirement was jurisdictional (such that dismissal was for lack of jurisdiction); however, LCC now claims that the previous dismissal was a final judgment such that claim preclusion applies. (APP0151). Ms. Latrenta maintained that, because the five elements outlined in *Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 278 (2007) were satisfied, the application of judicial estoppel was warranted such that the Current Trial Court should deny LCC's Motion to Dismiss. (APP0151). LCC filed its Reply on May 30, 2019. (APP0173 – APP0179).

The Current Trial Court held a hearing on June 4, 2019. (APP0180 – APP0199). During the hearing, Ms. Latrenta referred the district court to *Five Star* and informed the Current Trial Court that the Previous Trial Court dismissed the Previous Complaint against LCC without prejudice and for lack of jurisdiction, *i.e.*, for reasons not meant to have preclusive effect. (APP0186, APP0188, APP0194 – APP0197). Ms. Latrenta also referred the Current Trial Court to *Marcuse* and informed the district court that all five elements were applicable to this case warranting the application of judicial estoppel and denial of LCC's Motion to Dismiss. (APP0196 – APP0197). Ms. Latrenta also clarified for the Current Trial

Court that the Current Complaint alleged a cause of action under Nevada's older person abuse and neglect statute (three-year statute of limitations), not the medical malpractice statute (one-year statute of limitations), and alleged various theories of liability, not just vicarious liability of one nurse. (APP0189 – APP0191, APP0197 – APP198). Ms. Latrenta pointed out that the Previous Trial Court focused on only the vicarious liability of one nurse and did not address the other theories of liability such as direct, agency, or alter ego. (APP0197 – APP198). In the event the Current Trial Court had any hesitation due to the pending appeal involving the Previous Complaint, Ms. Latrenta referred the Current Trial Court to *Edwards v. Ghandour*, 123 Nev. 105 (2007), which permitted the Current Trial Court to suspend the proceedings without dismissing the case until the completion of the appeal from the Previous Trial Court. (APP0198).

Despite the language of the order of the Previous Trial Court and Ms. Latrenta's presentation of the Current Complaint, *Five Star*, *Marcuse*, and *Ghandour*, the Current Trial Court disagreed with Ms. Latrenta and specifically stated:

I disagree, quite frankly. I think that the -- I think Judge Villani did take all of those into consideration. I think that he did find that these were issues of medical malpractice or professional negligence and that not only was there no affidavit, but that the statute had run.

I do think that it was a final judgment. I think that's why you're able to appeal. I think that's why this is up at the Supreme Court. So I am granting the defendant's Motion to Dismiss.

(APP0199).

On July 15, 2019, the Current Trial Court entered its Order granting LCC's Motion to Dismiss. (APP0200 – APP0203). However, the Current Trial Court's Order did not state any findings, conclusions of law, or reasons for granting LCC's Motion to Dismiss. (APP0200 – APP0203). Rather, the Current Trial Court's Order merely states that it grants LCC's Motion to Dismiss after "having considered the papers and pleadings in this matter and after hearing oral argument, and good cause appearing." (APP0201).

On July 15, 2019, LCC filed the Notice of Entry, (APP0204 – APP209), to which Ms. Latrenta timely filed a Notice of Appeal on August 8, 2019. (APP0210 – APP0212).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is Ms. Latrenta's position that the lower court erred in dismissing the Complaint, and this Court must therefore reverse the lower court. Ms. Latrenta's position rests upon three grounds: First, applying claim preclusion despite the fact that the previous complaint was dismissed without prejudice would impermissibly broaden the scope of claim preclusion and contradict the Nevada Supreme Court's prior decisions. Second, applying claim preclusion despite the fact that the previous complaint was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction would impermissibly broaden the scope of claim preclusion and contradict the Nevada Supreme Court's prior decisions. Third, LCC's totally inconsistent positions in the lower court and the previous trial court in an attempt to obtain an unfair advantage warrants the application of judicial estoppel.

The Current Trial Court erred in not clearly stating its reasoning for granting LCC's Motion to Dismiss. However, the Current Trial Court erred in granting LCC's Motion to Dismiss and in presumably applying claim preclusion because (1) Ms. Latrenta's first action was dismissed without prejudice, which does not translate to claim preclusion as Ms. Latrenta was permitted under the procedural posture to refile her causes of action under Nevada's older person abuse and neglect statute and for bad faith tort within the three-year statute of limitations; (2) Ms. Latrenta's first action was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction, and a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction cannot and does not translate to claim preclusion; and (3) judicial estoppel prevents LCC from successfully asserting claim preclusion in any event. Therefore, this Court should reverse the decision of the Clark County District Court and return this case below for trial by jury.

ARGUMENT

I. As an initial matter, the Current Trial Court erred in failing to state on the record or in its Order the reasons for granting LCC's Motion to Dismiss.

Pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a)(3), in granting or denying

a motion to dismiss under NRCP 12, the trial court is required to "state on the record

the reasons for granting or denying a motion." NRCP 52(a)(3). Here, while the

Current Trial Court stated on the record and in its Order that it granted LCC's Motion

to Dismiss, (APP0199, APP0201), the Current Trial Court failed to clearly state its

reasoning on the record. Rather, the Current Trial Court merely stated:

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