Case No. 79396

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA LATRENTA, individually,

Appellants,

vs.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, LLC, dba LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; and CARL WAGNER, Administrator,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Apr 20 2020 11:46 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Jacqueline M. Bluth, District Judge District Court Case No. A-19-790152-C

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

This Court in *Mendenhall* explained that this test for determining the commonality between initial and subsequent claims is a departure from the previous "overly rigid" test for applying claim preclusion. *Id*.

The previous test required that "the first and second complaint needed

to be based on the same set of common facts and had to seek the same relief," and an "identity of causes of action" needed to exist between the two complaints. *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). However, these requirements were disposed of by this Court. *Id.* at 620 n.2, 403 P.3d at 370 n.2 (rejecting appellant's limited interpretation of claim preclusion "that for claim preclusion to apply in Nevada, the two sets of claims must be based on the same 'cause of action' and that the test for identical causes of action is whether the sets of facts essential to maintain the two suits are the same").

2. Claim Preclusion Embraces the Rule Against Claim/Action Splitting

This Court has held that "[i]t would be contrary to fundamental judicial procedure to permit two actions to remain pending between the same parties upon identical cause." *Fitzharris v. Phillips*, 74 Nev. 371, 376-77, 333 P.2d 721, 724 (1958), disapproved on other grounds by Lee v. GNLV Corp., 116 Nev. 424, 996 P.2d 416 (2000). Indeed, "a single cause of action may not be split and separate actions maintained." *Smith v. Hutchins*, 93 Nev. 431, 432, 566 P.2d 1136, 1137 (1977).

This rule against claim/action splitting is a concept underlying the doctrine of claim preclusion. See Boca Park Marketplace Syndications

Grp., LLC v. Higco, Inc., 133 Nev. 923, 925, 407 P.3d 761, 763 (2017); Katz v. Gerardi, 655 F.3d 1212, 1218 (10th Cir. 2011) ("A plaintiff's obligation to bring all related claims together in the same action arises under the common law rule of claim preclusion prohibiting the splitting of actions." (internal quotation marks omitted)); Curtis v. Citibank, N.A., 226 F.3d 133, 139 (2d Cir. 2000) ("[P]laintiffs have no right to maintain two actions on the same subject in the same court, against the same defendant at the same time.").

3. Plaintiffs Waived this Issue

Before the district court below, plaintiffs did not oppose Life Care Center's argument that *Curtis II* "is based on the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been brought in the first action." (J. App. 47, 142-152.) Plaintiffs did not even attempt to present any authority or counterarguments to that point. (J. App. 142-152.) Plaintiffs thus waived this issue. *See Dolores v. State, Emp't Security Div.*, 134 Nev. 258, 261, 416 P.3d 259, 262 (2018) ("Issues not argued below are deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.").

4. Plaintiffs do not Dispute that Their Claims are the Same as, or Could have Been Brought in, Curtis I

On appeal, plaintiffs still do not dispute that *Curtis II* is based on the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been brought in *Curtis I*. (AOB at 13-17.); *Lewis v. Renown Regional Med*. *Ctr.*, No. 74300, 2018 WL 6721372, at *1 n.2 (*Order of Affirmance*, Dec. 18, 2018) ("Issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived." (quoting *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n.3 (2011)); *Maresca v. State*, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court.").

Plaintiffs unquestionably waived this issue.

5. Plaintiffs' Claims are Based on the Same Set of Facts and Circumstances as Curtis I

Plaintiffs' silence on this issue below and on appeal is because their claims in $Curtis\ II$ are undisputedly based on the same set of facts and circumstances as $Curtis\ I$.

First, plaintiffs' claims are identical in both proceedings.

(Compare, J. App. 14-18 (asserting claims for elder abuse and breach of

the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in *Curtis II*), with J. App. 56-57, 59-60 (asserting claims for elder abuse and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in *Curtis I*)). Indeed, Plaintiffs repeat nearly verbatim their allegations in *Curtis I* to support their claims in *Curtis II* for elder abuse and bad faith. (*Id.*)

And to the extent any part of the claims in *Curtis II* can even be construed as being different from those in *Curtis I*, it could have been brought in the first case. Both set of claims are based on the same set of alleged facts and circumstances: that Nurse Dawson administered the wrong medication during a course of treatment and that Life Care Center's licensed nurses thereafter failed to properly monitor Ms. Curtis.

Plaintiffs' claims in *Curtis II* are thus the same as *Curtis I*, and any part of the claims that is different in *Curtis II* may not be split into two different actions when it could have been brought in *Curtis I*.

C. The Order in *Curtis I* is a Valid, Final Judgment

Regardless of how the district court in $Curtis\ I$ disposed of plaintiffs' claims (i.e., whether through summary judgment or a motion to dismiss), the effect of the order was preclusive because the statute of

limitations on plaintiffs' claims had run. Thus, the district court's order in *Curtis I* is a valid, final judgment.

1. Plaintiffs Waived Any Objection to Curtis I's Resolution on Summary Judgment

It is indisputable that a summary judgment order, even pending appeal, is a valid, final judgment. Tumacacori Mission Land Dev., Ltd. v. Union Pac. R. Co., 297 P.3d 923, 925 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2013) ("An order granting summary judgment is a final judgment on the merits notwithstanding the possibility it will be appealed."); Lee v. GNLV Corp., 116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000) (summary judgment is a valid, final judgment when it "disposes of all the issues presented in the case, and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the court"); Edwards v. Ghandour, 123 Nev. 105, 116, 159 P.3d 1086, 1093 (2007) ("[W]e conclude that the better reasoned approach, adopted by a majority of courts, is to give a judgment preclusive effect even when it is on appeal or the appeal period is running."), abrogated on other grounds by Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 194 P.3d 709 (2008).

Plaintiffs now argue, however, that the district court in $Curtis\ I$ should have dismissed their claims without prejudice in lieu of entering summary judgment under NRS 41A.071 ("[T]he district court shall

dismiss the action, without prejudice, if the action is filed without an affidavit"). (AOB at 14). But in *Curtis I*, plaintiffs never raised this issue or an objection before the district court, let alone instruct or direct the district to style its order as one for dismissal as opposed to summary judgment.⁵ *See Dolores v. State, Emp't Security Div.*, 134 Nev. 258, 261, 416 P.3d 259, 262 (2018) ("Issues not argued below are deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.").

For example, in *Curtis I*, plaintiffs never raised this issue in their opposition to Life Care Center's motion for summary judgment or during oral argument on the motion. (1 R. App. 176 –96; 1 R. App. 131–73). Nor did plaintiffs raise this in a post-judgment motion after the district court entered summary judgment. Instead, Plaintiffs appealed the order and represented to this Court that the order was a valid, final judgment under NRAP 3A(b)(1) (1 R. App. 212; AOB at 1). Thus, plaintiffs waived this issue and cannot now fault the district court for failing to grant a relief that it never requested.

⁵ Regardless, as discussed further below, how the district court styled its order does not bear on the effects of the order in *Curtis I*, which is the dismissal of plaintiffs' claims with prejudice. *See infra* Section I.C.2 & 4.

2. A Dismissal of a Time-Barred Claim is a Valid, Final Judgment

An order dismissing a claim that is time-barred is in effect a dismissal with prejudice, and thus, is a valid, final judgment for purposes of claim preclusion.

a. Whether an Order is a Valid, Final Judgment is Determined by Its Effect

It is the effect of an order that determines whether it is a valid, final judgment, regardless of how it is styled. Valley Bank of Nev. v. Ginsburg, 110 Nev. 440 (1994) ("This court determines the finality of an order or judgment by looking to what the order or judgment actually does, not what it is called."); (AOB at 15 n.4 (plaintiffs agreeing)). Specifically, whether the dismissal of a case has "preclusive effect" is the primary consideration for the dismissal being a valid, final judgment. Cf. Five Star Cap. Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1054, 194 P.3d 709, 713 (2008) (noting that a valid final judgment does not include a dismissal "that is not meant to have preclusive effect"); (AOB at 15 (plaintiffs agreeing)).

b. A DISMISSAL IS DE FACTO WITH PREJUDICE IF IT HAS PRECLUSIVE EFFECT, AND THUS, IS A VALID, FINAL JUDGMENT FOR CLAIM PRECLUSION

A dismissal is de facto with prejudice if it has preclusive effect, which in turn renders the dismissal a valid, final judgment. See

Azzarello v. Humboldt River Ranch Assoc., Docket No. 68147, 2016 WL
6072420, at *1 n.1 (Order of Affirmance, Oct. 14, 2016) ("recognizing that dismissal with prejudice has preclusive effect"); Stewart v. U.S.

Bancorp., 297 F.3d 953, 956 (9th Cir. 2002) (noting that a final judgment "is often used interchangeably with 'dismissal with prejudice."). In contrast, a dismissal is truly without prejudice only if it does not bar a plaintiff "from returning later, to the same court, with the same underlying claim." Semtek Intern. Inc. v. Lockheed Martin Corp., 531 U.S. 497, 505 (2001).

c. A DISMISSAL OF A TIME-BARRED CLAIM, EVEN IF IT WERE STYLED AS WITHOUT PREJUDICE, IS DE FACTO DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE

A dismissal without prejudice of claims that are time-barred will have a preclusive effect, and thus, is de facto dismissal with prejudice.⁶

⁶ Other courts are seemingly unanimous on this position. *See, e.g.*, *Weasel v. St. Alexius Med. Ctr.*, 230 F.3d 348, 353 n.4 (8th Cir. 2000) (recognizing that a dismissal without prejudice will have a preclusive effect where the statute of limitations expires during the pendency of

Scrimer v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 116 Nev. 507, 514, 998 P.2d 1190, 1195 (2000) ("Although the dismissal was without prejudice, it was effectively with prejudice, since the statute of limitations had run."); Dougan v. Gustaveson, 108 Nev. 517, 519, 835 P.2d 795, 796 (1992), abrogated on other grounds by Arnold v. Kip, 123 Nev. 410, 168 P.3d 1050 (2007) ("Although [plaintiff's] complaint was dismissed without prejudice, the effect of the dismissal was final because the statute of limitations had run. After the district court certified the

the case); Gallardo v. PS Chicken Inc., 285 F. Supp. 3d 549, 552 (E.D.N.Y. 2018) ("[E]ven where a dismissal without prejudice does not explicitly preclude a plaintiff from reviving his or her claims, the potential preclusive effect of a dismissal without prejudice when coupled with the statute of limitations could render it a de facto dismissal with prejudice." (internal quotation marks omitted)); Pearson v. City of Big Lake, Minn., No. CIV. 10-1745 JRT/FLN, 2011 WL 1136443, at *4 (D. Minn. Mar. 25, 2011) ("A dismissal without prejudice in this case will have the same preclusive effect as a dismissal with prejudice because the complaint was filed shortly before the expiration of the statute of limitations. Thus, if the case is dismissed without prejudice, the limitations period will have run and [plaintiff] will not be able to re-file."); Thomas v. Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., No. CIV.A. 3:93-CV-1970D, 1996 WL 706871, at *1 (N.D. Tex. Dec. 4, 1996) ("Because a dismissal without prejudice in the present case would still result in barring a second suit based on the preclusive effect of the statute of limitations, the court must treat [the] dismissal as being one with prejudice."); Power Constructors, Inc. v. Acres Am., 811 P.2d 1052, 1054 n.5 (Ala. 1991) ("Dismissal without prejudice will only have a preclusive effect if the statute of limitations has run while the case was pending.").

judgment as final, this appeal followed."); *Domino v. Gaughan*, 103 Nev. 582, 583, 747 P.2d 236, 237 (1987) ("Although the dismissal was without prejudice, it was, in effect, a dismissal with prejudice because the applicable statute of limitations had run.").

3. The Order in Curtis I Became Final Because the One-Year Statute of Limitations Governing Plaintiffs' Claims Had Expired

The district court in *Curtis I* concluded that the gravamen of plaintiffs' claims are for professional negligence, and despite their efforts, they cannot escape NRS Chapter 41A's limitations, including NRS 41A.097(2)'s one-year statute of limitations.⁷ (J. App. 67 ("This means that a plaintiff cannot escape the [professional negligence] statutes' damages or timeliness limitations by pleading an intentional tort—battery, say—instead of negligence.")). And in reaching its decision to grant summary judgment, the district court heard and considered arguments regarding whether the statute of limitations of plaintiffs' claims had run. (1 R. App. 176–96) During oral argument on

⁷ NRS 41A.097(2) provides that the statute of limitations governing a claim for professional negligence is one year after the plaintiff discovers the injury. This is discussed more fully below. *See infra* Section II.B.

Life Care Center's summary-judgment motion, plaintiffs even conceded that the statute of limitations on their claims had run. (1 R. App. 183) ("They wait till the statute of limitations pass in order to try to get this entire case thrown out.").

Thus, the effect of the district court's order in *Curtis I* was dismissal with prejudice because it determined that plaintiffs' claims are for professional negligence, plaintiffs' claims must be dismissed for failure to file a medical-expert affidavit, and the one-year statute of limitations had run. Plaintiffs even conceded as such during oral argument below:

THE COURT: . . . But my understanding . . . is that [the district court in *Curtis I*] ultimately did not agree with you that this was abuse of an elder person, that they felt this should have been, you know, a med mal professional negligence, and then thus the affidavit should have been attached, and therefore, that's why it got dismissed, because this wasn't an elder abuse case, this is a med mal case, and there was no affidavit.

Since there was no affidavit, the statute had ran, so—are we—am I there? Right? I mean—

Ms. Bossie: Correct.

(J. App. 189) (emphases added).

Accordingly, the district court in $Curtis\ II$ did not err in concluding that the order in $Curtis\ I$ was a valid, final judgment with preclusive effect.

4. Any Error in the Title of the Order in Curtis I was Only One of Form, and not Substance

While plaintiffs take issue with the district court styling its order in *Curtis I* as one for summary judgment instead of dismissal without prejudice, any error there "was simply one of form" because the effect is the same: the claims are time-barred. *McClellan v. Haddock*, 166 A.3d 579, 589 n.10 (Vt. 2017). The Supreme Court of Vermont in *McClellan* is instructive:

We note that the trial court's judgment of dismissal "with prejudice" was technically not authorized under the statute providing that failure to file the requisite certificate of merit "shall be grounds for dismissal of the action without prejudice." Any error, however, was simply one of form; the statute of limitations had already expired, so even if the trial court had dismissed without prejudice and plaintiff had refiled the complaint, it would have been subsequently dismissed with prejudice as time-barred.

Id. (citation omitted); see also White v. Tariq, 299 S.W.3d 1, 5 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009) (acknowledging that, although a medical malpractice action is dismissed "without prejudice" for failure to timely file a health care

affidavit in support of their medical malpractice action, the dismissal may still present claim preclusion when the claims are "otherwise barred" under the statute of limitations).

Indeed, a rigid and overly-simplified application of the rule that dismissals without prejudice are generally not valid, final judgments is incorrect and defies common sense where the dismissed claims are time-barred:

As a general matter, if a court lack subject matter jurisdiction over a claim, it should dismiss that claim without prejudice. . . . However, the court should not ignore common sense. A court may dismiss a complaint with prejudice if the running of the statute of limitations would bar a plaintiff from [bringing a subsequent action]

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